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To meet the needs of its customers, Bradken 
employs over 2,500 people globally and operates 
15 manufacturing and service facilities and over 
20 direct sales offices throughout Australia and 

in strategic international locations.

Through its four divisions of Mining, Mineral 
Processing, Rail and Industrial, Bradken uses 

its years of experience to develop innovative 
and differentiated consumable products for the 

mining, steel making, smelting, transport and 
power generation industries.

We’ve been doing this for more than 80 years. 

Bradken Limited 
ACN 108 693 009

Notice of Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Bradken Limited will be held 
at the Sofitel Wentworth Sydney, Brisbane Room, Level 3, 
61 – 101 Phillip Street, Sydney

Monday, 30th October 2006 at 2:30pm.

A formal Notice of Meeting is enclosed

The leading supplier of
differentiated consumable products

to the resources industry

Servicing Australia’s resources and freight 
rail industries through four product focussed 

divisions, Bradken is a leading supplier of 
differentiated consumable products, capital 
equipment and associated maintenance and 

refurbishment services. 
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Highlights
In a period of sustained growth,  
Bradken has:

Achieved a Net profit after tax of $33.9 million, up 44.3%

Declared a full year fully franked dividend of 21 cents, up 46.9%

Improved quality of earnings and captured volume growth to achieve 
excellent profit performance

Achieved synergy benefits ahead of schedule from acquisition of  
Henderson foundry

Acquired a specialised foundry scrap metal facility at Cannington in 
Western Australia

Maintained strong cash flow and reduced long-term debt which will 
enable funding of additional capital upgrades to capture future growth

Reduced the lost time injury frequency rate by 40% to 6.5 in June 
2006 with the introduction of a new 21 Step Safety Plan
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Pro-forma Financial Information

To allow meaningful comparison with the 2006 numbers, the 2005 results shown in the above table are based 
on pro-forma results for the year ended 30 June 2005. All comments within the Chairman’s Report, Managing 
Director’s Report and business segment review are based on the pro-forma results for 2005.

NPAT

EBITDA

EBITDA margin

Sales Revenue

Earnings per share (EPS)

Dividend per share (DPS)

Net Operating & investing cash flow

$33.9m

$77.4m

14.1%

$547.8m

32.5 cents

21.0 cents

$44.4m

$23.5m

$59.9m

12.3%

$485.1m

22.9 cents

14.3 cents

($2.6m)

44.3%

29.2%

14.6%

12.9%

39.7%

46.9%

2006 2005 Change

12 months ended 30 June 

NPAT – Net Profit After Tax 

EBITDA – Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation
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Nick Greiner 
Chairman 

 
Bradken Limited’s first full year as an ASX listed 
company has been an unqualified success on both 
financial and operational criteria.

Total shareholder return as measured by the change in 
share price and dividends paid during the 12 months was 
85%, 11th among the ASX Small Cap Industrial Index.  
This was the result of significant capital appreciation due 
to both strong results and a re-rating by the financial 
markets, as well as the implementation of the forecast 
dividend policy.

We look to establish a reputation for a reliable, conserv-
ative and transparent approach in our shareholder and 
stock market communications, and believe the year under 
review has seen good progress in that regard.

Because Bradken, primarily a supplier of differentiated 
consumable products to the resources sector, does not 
fit well into sectors such as “heavy engineering” used by 
the stockmarket, the quality of our communications is all 
the more important.

During the year the volume of demand for resources, led 
by China, continued at a very high level.  This is expected 
to continue for some years although growth rates may 
moderate.  Tonnes mined is, of course, the key driver of 
demand for your company’s products.

Our challenge both in 2005/06 and into the future is 
to ensure timely and effective expansion of capacity so 
as to reduce our costs and maintain our market leading 
position and excellent customer service standards.

In addition to expanding and improving our foundries and 
fabrication facilities, we need to invest heavily in people 
and technology to preserve our competitive edge.  We 
have successfully increased our domestic training effort 
as well as bringing overseas tradespeople to supplement 
the workforce in areas of skill shortage.

We also have an active product and process development 
effort geared at ensuring world best practice is properly 
applied to Australian conditions.

In financial terms, apart from the excellent profit and 
dividend outcomes, our working capital and cash 
management improved during the year.  This will enable 
us to fund our record capex this year without undue 
balance sheet stress.

In strategic terms we propose to stick to our present 
business model but avail ourselves of opportunities for 
organic and acquisition growth both in Australia and 
overseas.  In time we believe we can replicate our model 
and our present regional leadership on a global scale.

As mentioned, the prospects for our products look 
good and with our strong people, manufacturing and 
technology base, we expect to continue satisfactory 
growth, profits and dividends.

On behalf of the Board, I thank Brian Hodges and his 
team for their fine performance.

Nick Greiner 
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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Brian Hodges 
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 

 
2006 has been a rewarding and fulfilling year for 
Bradken and its people.  Our second year of public 
ownership has seen us rapidly moving ahead, 
improving not only our performance, but also our 
capabilities for the future.

Ongoing strong demand provides 
top line growth

Bradken achieved record sales of $547.8 million, 
representing a 13% increase on 2004/05.  Sales 
were driven by strong increases in consumable 
products.  The mineral processing division’s sales 
revenue for consumable products was up 78% on last 
year due primarily to the successful integration and 
synergy benefits derived from the Henderson foundry 
acquisition.  Due to market activities, general freight 
wagon sales did not see the same level of demand from 
freight providers this year. Orders for rail consumable 
products to the resources sector remained strong year 
on year.

Bradken’s focus on product differentiation, capital 
expansion and cost reduction strategies, proved 
successful in 2005/06 with EBITDA margins 
increasing from 12.3% to 14.1%.  The resulting net 
profit after tax (NPAT) of $33.9 million was 44% above 
the preceding year.

Considerable effort was expended in customising 
products for large capital mining equipment, which 
achieves more up time, is safer to install and has the 
potential to significantly lower operational costs for 
our customers.  Much of this work was undertaken 
at customers’ workplaces and minesites and was 
particularly evident in the Bowen Basin, where sales 
of patented products continued to perform strongly, 
adding significant value for customers.

Particularly pleasing was the improvement in working 
capital.  While sales grew, the working capital continued 
to reduce in total dollars.  This result, along with the 
strong EBITDA, led to a reduction in bank debt of $15 
million and a strong cash balance at year’s end.

This has provided Bradken with increased flexibility 
and growth potential and moved us well away from the 
original IPO balance sheet of just two years ago.  Our 
gearing has now reduced to where our gross debt is 
1.5 times our trailing EBITDA.

Capacity the key

Our manufacturing facilities, after capital upgrades 
over the last few years, are continuing their programs 
of incremental expansion and the capture of benefits 
from cost reduction programs.  We have been able 
to reduce overtime levels and at the same time gain 
efficiencies as capital investment and operational 
experience continued to take effect.

Of special note was the excellent capture of synergies by 
the Mineral Processing division in rationalising product 
mix between the newly acquired Henderson and existing 
Adelaide foundries.  In simple terms, large products can 
now be more efficiently produced in Adelaide, where 
smaller castings are more readily adaptable to the 
Henderson facility.  Increases in yield and the exchange 
of key operating practices in both directions have added 
significantly to this pleasing result.

In the year we spent $20 million on capital improvement 
programs, focused on safety, environment, growth and 
cost reduction.  The emphasis was on growth capex, 
which resulted in a 20% increase in capacity for the 
Henderson facility with the extension of its moulding line.  
New machining centres and sand reclamation plants 
were also added in other facilities to lower our costs and 
extend our product range.

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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While these upgrades will be sufficient to cover growth in 
2007, further new capital investment will be required in 
the future to sustain demand for further volume growth.

Investment in capital is also about improving environ-
mental performance.   New air curtains to suppress 
nuisance odours were commissioned in Adelaide, as well 
as the construction of noise walls in Runcorn, just two 
of the new environmental items commissioned this year.  
We have recycled some 49,000 tonnes of industrial 
waste (42.5% of our total wastes) and almost 60,000 
tonnes of scrap steel in the last 12 months.

Leveraging the growth

A key success this year is a 40% reduction in the 
lost time injury frequency rate to a record low of 6.5 
occurrences per million man hours worked.

This year has been noteworthy in that we have 
significantly enhanced our human resources 
management systems.  A new 21 Step Safety Plan was 
implemented, as was a CEO Leadership Program and 
a new computer based management system developed 
to capture intellectual capital and share knowledge 
efficiently across all Bradken sites.  The company is 
investing in training of our people and, to enhance our 
technical skill level, we have entered into a number of 
close and growing relationships with tertiary  
institutions.

We are reinventing ourselves in so many ways, looking 
for improvement and new opportunities in all areas of 
the business.  Our strong profit growth and reduction in 
long term debt is enabling us to fund additional capital 
upgrades in 2007.  We plan to spend $40 million in 
2007, which includes initial funding for the expansion of 
the Adelaide foundry over the next 3 years, once approval 
is gained.  The funding will also add capacity potential to 
many of our successful product groups.

Sales of customised wear products to the resources 
industry have continued to grow and we plan to stick 
closely to our core business by adding products 
organically as well as pursuing acquisition opportunities, 
which will improve our market position or extend our 
geography.

We are continuing to reinforce our association with the 
resources sector by getting closer to our customers.  
A new bogie maintenance and re-sheeting facility was 
established in Perth this year to service the large 
number of wagons being operated in the Pilbara 
region.  We also opened a new sales office in Emerald, 
Queensland.

We have signed a memorandum of understanding 
to purchase six hectares of land in Xuzhou, Jiangsu 
province, China.  Stage one of our plan is to build a 
rail sub-assembly manufacturing facility for supply to 
the Australian market.  We expect the facility to be 
operational by the second half of 2007.

Bradken Management continually strives to improve the 
quality of earnings.  We are continuing to invest capital 
for cost reduction, undertaking lean management 
programs and looking at opportunities for vertical 
integration.  A recent example is our acquisition 
in March 2006 of a Western Australian specialty 
foundry scrap metal supplier, which has helped secure 
supply of scrap material and lower our input costs.  
This business offers further synergy benefits across 
Australia.

Outlook

Bradken is continuing to work hard to position itself 
for future growth.  We see the growth in resources 
continuing into the longer term bringing sustained 
growth for consumable product sales across the 
business.  We need to be ready for this opportunity 
with well trained and committed people and world 
class facilities.  We will seek not only top line growth, 
but to gain maximum benefit by focusing on quality 
of earnings.  Orders on our books for consumable 
products are strong and good prospects continue 
appearing for the rail business.

Brian Hodges 
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
(Continued)
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PEOPLE & SAFETY

Bradken has total commitment to 
achieving a safe, productive and  
healthy work environment.

Safety

Bradken aims to conduct its business in a responsible 
manner that protects the health of employees and the 
wider community.

The introduction of a new 21 Step Safety Program 
has resulted in a 40% reduction in the lost time injury 
frequency rate, which has reduced from 10.7 in June 
2005 to 6.5 in June 2006.

Rail maintenance and fabrication staff in Newcastle, 
New South Wales and in Ipswich, Queensland, have
achieved a record of two years without a lost time injury.

Personnel Development

Bradken has devoted considerable attention to ensuring 
it has a sufficient and appropriately skilled domestic 
labour force.  Skilled tradespeople and professionals 
have been brought in from overseas to address specific 
regional skill shortages and to allow more work to be 
undertaken locally.

We continue to grow and develop employee skill 
levels and competencies.  Significant investment has 
been made in staff training and in the employment of 
apprentices and trainees in all disciplines. 

Industrial relations reforms are providing Bradken with 
an opportunity to align its workforce more 
to the business.



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006 �

ENVIRONMENT

Bradken takes a long-term proactive 
approach to improving its facilities and 
manufacturing processes to protect the 
environment in which it operates.
The company operates an environmental management 
system, which complies with the International 
Environmental Standard ISO14001.  This system is 
implemented throughout all of Bradken’s existing and 
new manufacturing facilities.

Bradken continues to invest in research and technology 
for environmental improvement and will spend in excess 
of $2 million in capital investment on environmental 
initiatives this financial year.

Highlights

•   Recycled 59,565 tonnes of scrap steel last  
financial year

•   Recycled 48,814 tonnes of industrial waste to  
other industries instead of sending to landfill 
(42.5% of total waste)

•   New sand reclamation plant commissioned 
at Launceston foundry

•   New air curtain commissioned at Adelaide foundry 
to suppress odours

•  Chemical odour control systems introduced
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TECHNOLOGY

This year the new executive position 
of Chief Technical Officer was created 
to focus on technological direction, 
process and product innovation and 
achievement.

Highlights

Installation of new state-of-the-art machine centres at 
Ipswich have delivered manufacturing efficiencies.

Pursuing technology for environmental and safety 
improvements including air curtains, the first of which 
was commissioned at Adelaide foundry to suppress 
odours.

Researching cutting edge processes and materials 
development through:

•   a partnership with CAST Co-operative Research 
Centre at the University of Queensland; and

•   a partnership with the Institute of Rail Technology 
at Monash University.

Benchmarking performance against other best practice 
foundries and world class manufacturing facilities to 
improve operational efficiencies. 
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BRADKEN DIVISIONS

MINING

RAIL

MINERAL PROCESSING

INDUSTRIAL
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MINING

Business Overview
Bradken has unrivalled experience in the design, manufacture, refurbishment and 
maintenance of an extensive range of high quality, high performance, wear resistant 
products for earth moving and fixed plant equipment.

The Mining division manufactures a comprehensive range of ground engaging tools (GET) 
and buckets fitted to draglines, rope shovels, hydraulic excavators and front end loaders.  
Through a 50 year association between the ESCO Corporation and Bradken, this product 
line continues to grow with the development of new innovative products.

Bradken designs and manufactures a range of Crawler Shoe Systems fitted to rope 
shovels and hydraulic excavators.  These leading edge products are marketed to 
Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEM) and direct to end users.

The Wear Plate and Block group markets and manufactures a range of wear resistant 
products used in both fixed and mobile plant applications. These highly adaptable 
products are customised to suit customer specific wear applications.

The Mining division operates a number of fabrication and maintenance workshops 
strategically located at Mackay in Queensland, Hunter Valley in New South Wales and 
Bassendean in Western Australia.  It also operates a foundry business at Welshpool in 
Western Australia.

The division continues to grow to meet the needs of its customers.  It maintains 
a regionally focused sales force across 13 mining regions in Australia and in key 
international locations.

The Year in Review
Bradken’s Mining division continued to experience 
strong growth as a result of increased demand for 
global resources. Its activities achieved a 21.4% 
increase in sales revenue for the year.  There has 
been continued growth across all product lines driven 
by demand for consumable products from mining 
customers and first fitments from OEM customers.

During the year the Mining division was restructured 
based on the three major product groups to specifically 
increase the business focus in each area.

The GET group increased sales by 22%.  The supply 
and refurbishment of dragline and excavator buckets 
continued to perform strongly and provided a platform 
for GET consumable sales.  A new series of hammerless 
locking systems was released during the year to support

customer safety initiatives.  Another strategy of locating 
Bradken personnel in major mining regions was 
completed with a new sales office opened at Emerald in 
Queensland.

The Crawler Systems group increased sales by 18% 
driven by strong demand from major OEM customers 
with over 50% of product sales to export markets.  
The group continued to work with major OEM’s on 
joint design projects for next generation customised 
products.  In addition, the manufacturing base for 
crawler systems production was broadened to meet 
increased global demand for Bradken’s products.

The Wear Plate and Block group increased sales by 
24%.  The major focus of the group was to continue 
increasing capacity to meet demand, with significant 
projects to increase capacity initiated during the year.
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The Mining division aligned its structure 

to its three major product groups, 

increasing focus on new product 

development and enhancing customer 

support.
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MINERAL PROCESSING

Business Overview
Bradken is a market leader in the provision of a range of consumable parts, capital 
equipment and refurbishment services to the mining and quarrying industries.

The Mineral Processing division produces differentiated product designs for grinding 
mill liners, crusher liners and pump parts.  The division also produces vertical stirred 
mills and rotary breakers, complemented by a full refurbishment service.

Our focus is on providing customers with innovative, cost effective solutions designed 
to lower overall processing costs in their grinding and crushing operations.

The Mineral Processing division operates foundries at Henderson, Western Australia 
and Adelaide, South Australia.  It also manages Bradken’s new speciality scrap 
supply group at Cannington in Western Australia.

The division maintains a regionally focused sales force located across 12 sites in 
Australia and in key international locations.

The Year in Review
Increased demand for consumable products, 
predominantly from the gold and copper sectors, as 
well as a full year contribution from Bradken’s foundry 
at Henderson provided the basis for another year of 
strong growth for the Mineral Processing division, with 
sales volume increasing by 78% on last year.

The rationalisation of manufacturing between the 
Henderson and Adelaide foundries to ensure each 
produce products that best match its capabilities also 
yielded above forecast synergy benefits.

The Adelaide foundry is operating at full capacity and 
there are plans to significantly increase capacity over 
the next three years to meet market demand.  The 
redevelopment plans are expected to be approved by 
the South Australian Government by the end of 2006.

In March 2006, Bradken acquired a Western Australian 
speciality foundry scrap metal supplier.  This helped to 
secure supply and reduce the input cost of scrap metal 
with both Western Australian foundries now being 
supplied their raw material requirements by this facility.

The impact on margins in 2006 from increased input 
costs, particularly for molybdenum, was offset through 
effective price correction programs.

Australian and overseas demand for the mill liner and 
crusher liner product ranges continued to be strong with 
export sales exceeding 35%. There was good market 
penetration by the patented Bullnose® discharge cone for 
large grinding mills.

A $2 million upgrade of the Henderson foundry, 
including a significant expansion of the semi-automated 
moulding line has been commissioned and will increase 
plant capacity by 20%. 



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006 ��

The Mineral Processing division achieved 

a 78% increase in sales revenue, 

reflecting greater market demand and 

a full year of contribution from the 

Henderson foundry.
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RAIL

Business Overview
Bradken is Australia’s only designer and builder of complete rail freight wagons.   
The Rail division’s market position is indicative of its capability in designing and 
manufacturing complete freight rollingstock solutions that incorporate capital 
equipment, best practice maintenance services and a comprehensive range of 
consumable parts.

Products sold by the division include freight wagons, bogies and drawgear.  
The division provides a variety of freight wagons tailored for customer needs 
and specialises in the design and manufacture of freight bogies with axle loading 
capacities up to 40 tonne.

The Rail division operates four manufacturing facilities in Australia including 
Bradken’s largest foundry at Runcorn in Queensland.  The division has 
fabrication and maintenance facility at Ipswich in Queensland as well as facilities  
at Newcastle and Mittagong in New South Wales.

The division’s sales force is located in the key iron ore, coal and general freight 
hubs of Australia.  It specialises in fleet condition monitoring, long-term running 
maintenance, service and refurbishment.  The division also operates a central 
consumable parts service centre and national distribution network.

The Year in Review
The Rail division experienced a decrease in sales 
revenue this year but profitability was higher due to 
cost improvements and improved quality of earnings.  
The division continued to be affected by general freight 
market conditions, although the balance of the rail 
market serving the resources sector remained strong.

The division continued to supply iron ore wagons 
and bogies for use in the Pilbara region of Western 
Australia.  It reached the milestone of 3,000 wagons 
to Pilbara Iron Rail Division with 740 wagons supplied 
in the last 12 months.  A new bogie maintenance and 
re-sheeting facility was established in Perth to service 
these wagons.

The Rail division continued to develop and expand its 
differentiated product range.  Special purpose prototype 
wagons, with a 40 tonne axle load, are currently being 
developed and tested.  Demand for maintenance 
consumable parts continued to grow strongly.

In February this year, Bradken signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding to purchase six hectares of land in 
Xuzhou, Jiangsu province, China.  Bradken plans to 
build a rail sub-assembly manufacturing facility on the 
site to expand existing capacity.  It expects the facility 
to be operational by the second half of 2007.  Adjacent 
land has also been reserved for future foundry and 
wagon building facilities.



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006 ��

Bradken’s Rail division is continuing  

to develop its product range and 

capacity to ensure it meets the  

increased market demand.
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INDUSTRIAL

Business Overview
Bradken’s Industrial division manufactures and supplies a range of cast, machined and 
fabricated products to a wide range of industries including: smelters and refineries; 
steelworks and scrap processing; power generation; sugar production; mining; and 
truck manufacture.

With its advanced manufacturing processes, Bradken can meet customers’ needs by 
providing products manufactured to specification, customised products and products 
based on Bradken’s proprietary designs.

Industrial castings are manufactured from a variety of materials including iron, 
complex alloy steel and stainless steel.

The division operates foundries at Ipswich in Queensland, Wodonga in Victoria, 
Launceston in Tasmania and Dunedin in New Zealand.

The division maintains a regionally based sales network across seven sites in Australia 
and in key international locations.

The Year in Review
Bradken’s Industrial division achieved a strong full year 
result. Sales revenue increased by 7.8% and there was 
substantial improvement in quality of earnings. 

This year saw strong industry based demand 
supporting resource sector growth including mining 
support, transport, and downstream processing.  

The division has expanded its capacity through the 
installation of new equipment and incremental process 
improvement to optimise plant efficiency. 

The Ipswich facility recently commissioned two new 
machining centres. A new furnace was installed at 
Launceston to reduce costs and increase capacity. 
Dunedin continued to provide solid quality of earnings. 
At Wodonga staff successfully bedded down a new 
three shift operation. 

Import capability increased over the year with the 
need to complement existing domestic production with 
the purchase of foundry products from China.  This 
capability will continue to grow.
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Bradken’s Industrial division is continuing 

to improve the capabilities of its people, 

plant and processes to meet the growing 

needs of customers.
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Mr Nicholas F H Greiner AC 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman (Age 59)

Mr Nicholas Greiner was appointed to the Board on 
13 April 2004. He is a member of the Remuneration 
Committee.

He was Premier and Treasurer of New South Wales 
from 1988-1992 and has extensive experience as a 
corporate director.

He is currently Deputy Chairman of Stockland Trust 
and a director of QBE Insurance Group Limited, 
McGuigan Simeon Wines Limited and various private 
groups. Nick is also Chairman of Bilfinger Berger 
Australia, The Australian Subscription Television and 
Radio Association (ASTRA) and on the Committee for 
Economic Development of Australia’s (CEDA’s) Board of 
Governors.

In 1994, he was awarded a Companion of the Order 
of Australia for public sector reform and management 
and services to the community.

Nick holds a Bachelor of Economics with Honours from 
Sydney University and a Master of Business Administration 
with High Distinction from Harvard Business School.

Mr Brian W Hodges 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Age 53)

Mr Brian Hodges was appointed to the Board on  
13 April 2004.

He has been Chief Executive of the Bradken business 
since 1997. He has guided Bradken and its culture 
through periods of considerable change and corporate 
activity with four different owners during his tenure as 
Chief Executive. Over the course of his career, Brian 
has gained considerable management and leadership 
experience in raw material production and processing, 
supply and logistics and steel manufacturing.

Brian holds a Bachelor of Chemical Engineering with 
Honours from the University of Newcastle.

Mr Phillip J Arnall 
Independent Non-Executive Director (Age 61)

Mr Phil Arnall was appointed to the Board on 13 April 
2004. He is a member of the Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee.

He has extensive experience in the mining and steel 
industries in management positions. Phil was the 
General Manager International at Smorgon Steel 
Group Limited and he held various senior positions at 
Australian National Industries Limited including, Chief 
General Manager of Structural Steel Product Group, 
Group Chief Executive of Tube Mills and Mining Services 
and Group Chief Executive of ANI Products Group.

He is currently Chairman of  Ludowici Limited, Capral 
Aluminium Limited and is a director of a number of 
private companies.

Phil holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) from 
the University of Newcastle.

Mr Vince J O’Rourke AM 
Independent Non-Executive Director (Age 70)

Mr Vince O’Rourke was appointed to the Board on  
8 August 2004. He is Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

He has spent over 40 years in the rail transport 
industry, 10 of which were as Chief Executive of 
Queensland Rail. Vince is Chairman of the Co-operative 
Research Centre for Rail Engineering and Technologies, 
the Great Australian Trunk Rail System and the 
Workplace Health and Safety Board of Queensland.

He was awarded a Member of the Order of Australia in 
2000 and a Centenary Medal in 2003 for services to 
the rail transport industry and Queensland Rail.

Vince holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of 
New England. He is an Honorary Doctor of the Queensland 
University of Technology and Griffith University.

Mr Gregory R Laurie 
Independent Non-Executive Director (Age 64)

Mr Greg Laurie was appointed to the Board on 24 
February 2005. He is Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Greg has extensive experience in a number of 
manufacturing and distribution industries. He was 
Finance Director of Crane Group Limited for almost 
fifteen years until 2003 and prior to that, the Chief 
Financial Officer of then listed company, Rheem Australia 
Limited. He is an independent non-executive director of 
Nick Scali Limited and Repco Corporation Limited.

Greg holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the 
University of New South Wales.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr Bruce D Arnott  Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (Age 50)

Bruce joined the Bradken business in 2005 as Chief Financial Officer and is responsible for finance, treasury, 
taxation, supply, investor relations, investments, audit and insurance. He was appointed Company Secretary 
of Bradken Resources in 2005. Prior to joining Bradken, Bruce held various senior finance positions within 
OneSteel, BHP and Tubemakers. Bruce holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Newcastle and is a 
member of CPA Australia.

Mr Andrew J Allen  General Manager Industrial (Age 43)

Andrew has been with the Bradken business for 26 years and was appointed General Manager Industrial in 2004 
following his appointment as General Manager Mineral Processing in 1998. Andrew oversees the Industrial 
division and is responsible for manufacturing facilities at Ipswich in Queensland, Wodonga in Victoria, Launceston 
in Tasmania and Dunedin in New Zealand. He has gained considerable manufacturing and technical expertise over 
his long operational and management history within the Bradken business. Andrew holds an Associate Diploma in 
Metallurgy Engineering from the Sydney Technical College.

Mr Steven D Burraston  General Manager Rail (Age 47)

Steve joined the Bradken business in 1995 as General Manager Rail. He manages the Rail group’s marketing, 
sales and production of capital products in addition to the provision of maintenance and refurbishment services 
and spare parts distribution. He is responsible for manufacturing facilities at Runcorn and Ipswich in Queensland, 
and Newcastle and Mittagong in New South Wales. Steve has extensive experience in the marketing of rail 
products. Steve is Chairman of the Australian Railway Industry Corporation, a member of the Australasian Railway 
Association and a member of the Railway Technical Society of Engineers Australia.

Mr Enda P Sheridan  General Manager Mining (Age 41)

Enda has been with the Bradken business for 16 years and was appointed General Manager Mining in 2004 
following five years as General Manager Industrial. His responsibilities include the management of the Mining 
division and Bradken’s manufacturing facilities at Mackay in Queensland, Welshpool and Bassendean in Western 
Australia, and Mount Thorley and Muswellbrook in New South Wales. Enda has held a number of production, 
technical and marketing positions with Bradken. Enda holds a Bachelor of Materials Engineering from the 
University of Limerick, Ireland and a Master of Business Administration from the University of Newcastle.

Mr Bradley J Ward  General Manager Mineral Processing (Age 40)

Brad has been with the Bradken business for 21 years and was appointed General Manager Mineral Processing 
in September 2004. He oversees the Mineral Processing division and is responsible for manufacturing facilities 
at Henderson in Western Australia and Adelaide in South Australia, as well as the scrap operation in Cannington, 
Western Australia. Brad has gained considerable marketing, sales and manufacturing expertise over his long 
operational and management history with the Bradken business in Australia and North & South America.
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Mr Wayne G Herbertson  General Manager Human Resources (Age 45)

Wayne was appointed General Manager Human Resources in December 2004. He is responsible for procedural 
developments of human resources, occupational health and safety and quality. Prior to joining the Bradken 
business, Wayne held senior positions with Siemens and BHP Steel. Wayne holds a Master of Applied Science 
Metallurgy, Bachelor of Applied Science Metallurgy, Bachelor of Applied Science Multidiscipline, Associate Diploma 
of Theology and a Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety.

Mr John Saad  Chief Technical Officer (Age 43)

John has been with Bradken for 19 years and was appointed Chief Technical Officer in March 2005. He is 
responsible for Bradken’s technological direction, process and product innovation and advancement. John has 
considerable experience in all divisions of Bradken previously occupying positions as a multi-site manufacturing 
manager, Technical and Product Development Manager for Mineral Processing and Head of Rail Engineering. 
John holds a Bachelor Degree in Metallurgical Engineering from the University of New South Wales.

Mr Andrew J Allen Mr Bradley J Ward  Mr Enda P Sheridan  Mr Wayne G Herbertson

Mr Steven D Burraston  Mr John Saad  Mr Brian W Hodges Mr Bruce D Arnott 
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Relationship of the concise financial report to the full 
financial report
The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year 
ended 30 June 2006. The financial statements and specific disclosures included in 
the concise financial report have been derived from the full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding 
of the financial performance, financial position and financing and investing activities 
of Bradken Limited and its subsidiaries as the full financial report. Further financial 
information can be obtained from the full financial report. The full financial report 
and auditor’s report will be sent to members on request, free of charge.  Please 
call +61 2 4941 2600 or email bradken@bradken.com.au for a copy of the full 
financial report. Alternatively, you can access both the full financial report and the 
concise report via the internet at our Shareholders’ Centre on our website:  
www.bradken.com.au

CONCISE ANNUAL REPORT
30 June 2006
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Your directors’ present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting 
of Bradken Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2006.

The report has been divided into five sections as follows:

A.  General information

B.  Corporate governance

C.  Review of operations

D.  Remuneration report

E.  Other information

A. General information

Principal activities

During the year the principal activities of the Group consisted of:

•  supply and service of wear components for mining and earthmoving equipment

•  supply of equipment and consumables to the mineral processing and quarrying markets

•  supply of cast, machined and fabricated components 

• manufacture and maintenance of freight rollingstock products

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group during the period.

Directors

The following persons were directors of Bradken Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the 
date of this report:

N F H Greiner

B W Hodges

P J Arnall

G R Laurie

V J O’Rourke

Information on directors

Nicholas F H Greiner, AC, B.Ec., MBA. 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman.  Age 59.

Experience and expertise

      Chairman for two years.  Extensive experience in corporate roles.  Formerly, Premier and Treasurer of 
New South Wales.

Other current directorships

      Chairman of Bilfinger Berger Australia, Deputy Chairman of Stockland Trust and a Director of QBE 
Insurance Limited, McGuigan Simeon Wines Limited and various private groups.  Also Chairman 
of The Australian Subscription Television and Radio Association (ASTRA) and on the Committee for 
Economic Development of Australia’s (CEDA’s) Board of Governors.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006   28

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(Continued)

Former directorships in the last three years

     Board member of South Sydney Rugby League Club

Special responsibilities

     Member of Remuneration Committee.

Interest in shares

     250,753 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Brian W Hodges, B.Chem.Eng. (Hons). 
Managing Director.  Age 53.

Experience and expertise

      Managing Director for two years.  Formerly General Manager of the Bradken business since 1997.  
Extensive management and engineering experience in Australia for BHP, Australian National Industries  
and the Smorgon Steel Group.

Other current directorships

     None.

Former directorships in the last three years

     None

Special responsibilities

     Managing Director.

Interest in shares and rights

     2,648,167 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.  
     152,839 rights over ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Phillip J Arnall, B.Com.   
Independent Non-Executive Director.  Age 61.

Experience and expertise

      Director for two years.  Extensive experience in mining and steel industries in management positions. 
Held senior management positions with Smorgon Steel Group and Australian National Industries.

Other current directorships

     Chairman of Ludowici Limited and Chairman of Capral Aluminium Limited.

Former directorships in the last three years

     Chairman of Kip McGrath Education Centres Limited.

Special responsibilities

     Member of Audit Committee and member of Remuneration Committee.

Interest in shares

     690,135 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.
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Gregory R Laurie, B.Com.   
Independent Non-Executive Director.  Age 64.

Experience and expertise

      Director for one year.  Extensive experience in manufacturing and distribution industries.  Formerly CFO of Rheem 
Australia Limited from 1982 to 1988 and Finance Director of Crane Group Limited from 1989 until 2003.

Other current directorships

     Independent non-executive director of Nick Scali Limited and Repco Corporation Limited.

Former directorships in the last three years

     Executive director of Crane Group Limited. 

Special responsibilities

     Chairman of Audit Committee.

Interest in shares

     12,878 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

Vincent J O’Rourke, AM, B.Ec. 
Independent Non-Executive Director.  Age 70.

Experience and expertise

      Director for two years.  Extensive experience in the rail transport industry, 10 years as Chief Executive of 
Queensland Rail.

Other current directorships

      Chairman of the Co-operative Research Centre for Rail Engineering and Technologies, the Great 
Australian Trunk Rail System and the Workplace Health and Safety Board of Queensland.

Former directorships in the last three years

     Non-executive director of Linfox Pty Ltd.

Special responsibilities

     Chairman of Remuneration Committee and member of Audit Committee.

Interest in shares

     28,754 ordinary shares in Bradken Limited.

 Bruce D Arnott, B.Com, CPA. 
Company Secretary.  Age 50.

        Mr Arnott joined the Group in October 2005 as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and is responsible for 
finance, treasury, taxation, supply, investor relations, investments, audit and insurance.  Prior to joining 
Bradken Mr Arnott held various senior finance positions within OneSteel, BHP and Tubemakers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(Continued)

Meetings of directors

The number of meetings of the Company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2006, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

Director Full meetings  Meetings of Audit Committee Remuneration 
 of directors non-executive meetings Committee 
  directors  meetings
 

 A B A B A B A B

N F H Greiner 9 9 1 1 - - 3 3

B W Hodges 9 9 - - - - - -

P J Arnall 7 9 1 1 4 5 3 3

V J O’Rourke 9 9 1 1 5 5 3 3

G R Laurie 9 9 1 1 5 5 - -

A – Number of meetings attended

B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the period

B. Corporate governance
The Company and the Board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of  
corporate governance.  This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place 
throughout the financial year, which comply with the best practice recommendations released by the 
Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council in March 2003 unless otherwise stated.

The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long-term success.  
The directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short  
and the longer term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the  
Group as a whole.  Their focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders  
and to ensure the Group is properly managed.

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives are formally delegated by the Board to the Managing Director and senior executives.

A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out below.  All these practices, 
unless otherwise stated, were in place for the entire year.

The board of directors

The Board operates in accordance with broad principles set out in its charter which is available from the 
corporate governance information section of the Company website at www.bradken.com.au.  The charter 
details the Board’s composition and responsibilities.

Board composition

The charter states:

•   the Board comprise both executive and non-executive directors with a majority of non-executive directors, 
and one executive director being the Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer
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•   in recognition of the importance of independent views and the Board’s role in supervising the activities 
of management, the Chairman must be an independent non-executive director, the majority of the Board 
must be independent of management and all directors are required to bring independent judgement to 
bear in their Board decision making

•   the Chairman is elected by the full Board and is required to meet regularly with the Managing Director

•   the Company is to maintain a mix of directors from different backgrounds with complementary skills and 
experience both nationally and internationally with a majority of directors having knowledge of the Company 
or related industries and/or financial expertise

•   the Board is required to undertake an annual board performance review and consider the appropriate mix 
of skills required by the Board to maximise its effectiveness and its contribution to the Group.

Responsibilities

The responsibilities of the Board include:

•   providing strategic guidance to the Company including contributing to the development of and approving 
the corporate strategy

•   reviewing and approving the business plans, the annual budget and financial plans including available 
resources and capital expenditure initiatives

•  overseeing and monitoring:

    -   organisational performance and the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals and objectives

    -   compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct (see page 37)

    -   progress of major capital expenditures and other significant corporate projects including any 
acquisitions or divestments

•   monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual and half-year financial reports and 
liaison with the Company’s auditors

•   appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of the Managing Director

•   ratifying the appointment and/or removal and contributing to the performance assessment of the 
members of the senior management team including the CFO / Company Secretary

•   ensuring there are effective management processes in place and approving major corporate initiatives

•   enhancing and protecting the reputation of the Group

•   overseeing the operation of the Group’s system for compliance and risk management.

Board members

Details of the members of the Board, their experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office and 
independent status are set out in the directors’ report under the heading “Information on directors”.   
As at the date of this report the Board of the Company comprises four non-executive directors, all of 
whom are considered independent under the principles set out below, and the Managing Director. 

The Board seeks to ensure that:

•   at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate balance between directors with experience 
and knowledge of the Group and directors with an external or fresh perspective

•   the size of the Board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision-making.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(Continued)

Directors’ independence

An independent director is a director who is not a member of management (a non-executive director) and who:

•   holds less than 5% of the voting shares of the Company and is not an officer of, or otherwise associated, 
directly or indirectly, with a shareholder of more than 5% of the voting shares of the Company

•   has not within the last three years been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another 
Group member

•   within the last three years has not been a principal or employee of a material professional adviser or a 
material consultant to the Company or another Group member

•   is not a material supplier to or customer of the Company or another Group member, or an officer of or 
otherwise associated, directly or indirectly, with a material supplier or customer

•   has no material contractual relationship with the Company or another Group member other than as a 
director of the Company

•   has not served on the Board of the Company for a period which could materially interfere with the  
Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company

•   is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

The Board reviews the independence of each Director in light of interests disclosed to the Board from time 
to time.

Non-executive directors

The four non-executive directors met once during the year, in a scheduled session without the presence 
of the executive director, to discuss the operation of the Board and a range of other matters.  Relevant 
matters arising from these meetings were shared with the full Board.

Term of office

The Company’s Constitution specifies that each non-executive director may have:

•   a maximum period of 12 years service as a director, subject to re-elections every year by rotation such 
that 1/3 of the directors are subject to re-election each year

•   A maximum retirement age of 72 years. The tenure of the Managing Director is limited to that of his 
Executive Office.

Commitment

The Board has established a framework for the management of the Group including a system of internal 
control, a business risk management process and the establishment of appropriate ethical standards.

The full Board currently holds nine scheduled meetings each year, plus strategy meetings and any extraordinary 
meetings at such other times as may be necessary to address any specific matters that may arise.

The agenda for meetings is prepared in conjunction with the Chairman, Managing Director and Company 
Secretary. Standing items include the Managing Director’s report, financial reports, strategic matters, 
governance and compliance. Submissions are circulated in advance. Executives are regularly involved in Board 
discussions and directors have other opportunities, including visits to business operations, for contact with a 
wider group of employees.

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a Remuneration Committee and an 
Audit Committee. These Committees have written mandates and operating procedures, which are reviewed on 
a regular basis.
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The commitments of non-executive directors are considered by the Board prior to the directors’ appointment 
to the Board of the Company and are reviewed each year as part of the annual performance assessment.

Prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election, each non-executive director is required to specifically 
acknowledge that they have and will continue to have the time to discharge their responsibilities to the Company.

Conflict of interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict 
with those of the Group.

Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a board matter, the director 
concerned does not receive the relevant board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is 
considered.

There were no director related entity transactions with the Group.

Independent professional advice

Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek 
independent professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser at the Company’s expense.  Prior written 
approval from the Chairman is required, but this will not be unreasonably withheld.

Performance assessment

The Board undertakes an annual self assessment of its collective performance, the performance of the 
Chairman and of its committees.  Management are invited to contribute to this appraisal process.  The 
results and any action plans are documented.  The assessment was undertaken in July 2005.

The Chairman undertakes an annual assessment of the performance of individual directors and meets 
privately with each director to discuss this assessment.

Corporate reporting

The Managing Director and the CFO have made the following certifications to the Board:

•   that the Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, 
of the financial condition and operational results of the Company and Group and are in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards

•   that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 
control which implements the policies adopted by the Board and that the Company’s risk management and 
internal compliance and control is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

Board committees

The Board has established a number of committees to assist in the execution of its duties and to allow 
detailed consideration of complex issues.  Current committees of the Board are the Remuneration 
Committee and the Audit Committee.  Each is comprised entirely of non-executive directors.  The committee 
structure and membership is reviewed on an annual basis.

Each committee has its own written charter setting out its role and responsibilities, composition, structure, 
membership requirements and the manner in which the committee is to operate.  All of these charters 
are reviewed on an annual basis and are available on the Company website.  All matters determined by the 
committees are submitted to the full board as recommendations for board decisions.

Additional requirements for specific reporting by the committees to the Board are addressed in the charter 
of the individual committees.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the following non-executive directors:

V J O’Rourke (Chairman)

N F H Greiner

P J Arnall

Details of these directors attendance at Remuneration Committee meetings are set out in the directors’ 
report on page 30.

The Remuneration Committee operates in accordance with its charter which is available on the Company 
website.  The Remuneration Committee advises the Board on remuneration and incentive policies and 
practices generally, and makes specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of 
employment for the executive directors, other senior executives and non-executive directors.

The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference include:

•   reviewing and approving remuneration policies including proposed short and long term incentives, 
superannuation, recruitment, redundancy/termination and other major personnel practices that will 
attract, motivate and retain high quality employees

•   recommending to the Board the total employment cost of the Managing Director and approving the total 
employment cost of senior executives reporting to that position.  The total cost being base pay, short and 
long term incentives (including shares and options), superannuation and other benefits

•   recommending to the Board the entitlements under incentive plans for the Managing Director, including 
linkages to specific goals and objectives, and approving entitlements for senior executives reporting to 
that position

•   recommending to the Board any service contracts for the Managing Director and approving service 
contracts for senior executives reporting to that position

•   reviewing the personal development plans for senior executives to maintain a pool of capable senior 
management

•   reviewing the development of management succession planning to ensure ongoing professional 
management of the Company and the development of the individuals

•   reviewing the Company’s development of human resource plans, training, workplace safety and 
environment systems designed to enhance corporate and individual performance

•   overseeing the planning and development of business continuity, crisis management and quality and safety 
management systems

•   undertaking any special projects delegated by the Board or deemed necessary by the Committee

Further information on directors’ and executive remuneration is set out in the directors’ report under the 
heading “Remuneration Report”.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the following non-executive directors:

G R Laurie (Chairman)

P J Arnall

V J O’Rourke

Details of these directors attendance at Audit Committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report on page 30.
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The Audit Committee has appropriate financial expertise and all members are financially literate and have an 
appropriate understanding of the businesses and markets in which the Group operates.

The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a charter which is available on the Company website.   
The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to:

•   review and assess the integrity of the financial statements of the Group

•   assess the suitability of the Group’s accounting policies and processes

•   assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control processes 

•   act as an interface between the Board and the external auditors

•   liaise with the external auditors on the conduct of the external audit

•   review reports on the Group’s financial statements and other matters, prepared by the external auditors

•   review any proposed provision of non-audit services by the external auditors

•   ensure the independence of the external auditors

•   consider the competence and assess the performance of the external auditors

•   overview the effectiveness of the internal audit function

•   ensure there is an appropriate process for the identification and management of business risks

•   ensure a process is in place to monitor the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations

•   review and monitor related party transactions and assess their propriety

•   report to the Board on matters relevant to the Committee’s role and responsibilities

•   oversee the Group’s transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRS) - see note 39 of the full financial report

The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors on a regular basis. It reviews its performance and 
effectiveness periodically and reviews its charter and makes recommendations to the Board on its charter 
annually.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee:

•   receives regular reports from management and the external auditors

•   assesses the suitability of the Company’s financial accounting policies, practices and procedures and the 
compliance with regulatory requirements

•   reviews the processes the CEO and the CFO have in place to support their certifications to the Board

•   reviews any significant disagreements between the auditors and management, irrespective of whether 
they have been resolved

•   meets separately with the external auditors at least twice a year without the presence of management

•   provides the external auditors with a clear line of direct communication at any time to either the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the Board

The Audit Committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires 
from any employee or external party.
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External auditors

The Company policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence.   
The performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually.  PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as 
the external auditor in 2005.  It is PricewaterhouseCoopers policy to rotate audit engagement partners on 
listed companies at least every five years.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is 
provided in the directors’ report and in note 27 of the full financial report.  It is the policy of the external 
auditors to provide an annual declaration of their independence to the Audit Committee.

The external auditor is required to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder 
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

Risk assessment and management

Bradken is committed to managing risk to protect our people, the environment, company assets, the 
community and our reputation.  This risk-based system helps the Group operate effectively and efficiently, 
achieve business objectives, ensure reliable reporting and comply with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board implements this policy by overseeing the establishment and implementation of the risk management 
system, reviewing the effectiveness of the company’s implementation of that system and ensuring appropriate 
communication with shareholders.  Further information on the Bradken Risk Policy can be found under the 
corporate governance information section of the Company website at www.bradken.com.au.

Not all aspects of risk management can be formalised and Bradken places considerable reliance on the skill, 
experience and judgement of its people to make risk based decisions within the policy framework, and to 
communicate openly on all risk related matters.

The environment, health and safety management system (EHSMS)

The Group recognises the importance of environmental and occupational health and safety (OH&S) issues 
and is committed to the highest levels of performance.  To help meet this objective the EHSMS was 
established to facilitate the systematic identification of environmental and OH&S issues and to ensure they 
are managed in a structured way.  This system has been operating for a number of years and allows the 
Company to: 

•   implement a corporate environmental management system that is independently certified to international 
standards ISO 14001 

•   implement the Bradken 21 Step Safety plan at all sites

•   monitor its systems compliance with all relevant OH&S and environmental legislation

•   continually assess and improve the impact of its operations on the environment

•   encourage employees to actively participate in the management of environmental and OH&S issues

•   work with trade associations representing the Group’s businesses to raise standards

•   use energy and other resources as efficiently as practicable 

•   encourage the adoption of similar standards by the Group’s principal suppliers and contractors

Recently acquired operations are currently implementing environmental management systems.  The Group 
continues to implement projects that improve the Company’s environmental performance and to address 
any community concerns in the vicinity of manufacturing sites.  Information on compliance with significant 
environmental regulations is set out in section E of this report on page 53.
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Code of conduct     

All directors, managers and employees are expected to act with the utmost integrity, objectivity and in 
compliance with the letter and spirit of the law and Company policies, striving at all times to enhance the 
reputation and performance of the Group.  Every employee has a nominated supervisor to whom they may 
refer any issues arising from their employment.

The Group has advised each director, manager and employee that they must comply with the Company’s 
Whistleblower Policy.  The Policy may be viewed on the Company’s website, and covers the following:

•   encouraging employees to report any behaviour that may be dishonest, fraudulent, corrupt, illegal, in 
breach of Commonwealth or State Legislation, unethical, improper, unsafe or any other behaviour that 
may cause financial or non-financial loss to the Group or would be otherwise detrimental to the interests 
of the Group

•   ensuring that the Company complies with its obligations to protect the reporter of any such behaviour

The Company also has a Securities Trading Policy (available on the Company’s website) which details the 
insider trading provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  In summary, trading of the Company’s shares is 
restricted to 30 days after the release of the Company’s half-year and annual results to the Australian Stock 
Exchange (ASX) and the annual general meeting of the Company.

Continuous disclosure and shareholder communication

The Board provides shareholders with information using a comprehensive Continuous Disclosure Policy 
which includes identifying matters, that a reasonable person would expect, that may have a material effect 
on the price of the Company’s securities, notifying each matter to the ASX, posting them on the Company’s 
website, and issuing media releases.  Full details of the policy are available on the Company’s website.

In summary, the Continuous Disclosure Policy operates as follows:

•   the Chairman, the Managing Director and the Company Secretary comprise the Disclosure Committee.  
The responsibilities of the Disclosure Committee include:

     -   ensuring the Company complies with its disclosure obligations 

     -   determining and authorising what information can or should be disclosed to the market

     -   liaising with the Board where necessary

•   the Company Secretary is responsible for all communications with the ASX.  Such continuous disclosure 
matters are advised to the ASX on the day they are discovered, and all senior executives must follow a 
‘Continuous Disclosure Discovery’ process, which involves monitoring all areas of the Group’s internal and 
external environment

•   all announcements made to the market, and related information including information provided to analysts 
or the media during briefings, are placed on the Company’s website after they are released to the ASX

•   the full text of notices of meetings and associated explanatory material are placed on the Company’s 
website.

All shareholders receive a copy of the Company’s annual (full or concise) report.  In addition the Company 
seeks to provide opportunities for shareholders to participate through electronic means.  All Company 
announcements, media briefings, details of Company meetings and press releases are available on the 
Company’s website.  All of the above information is made available on the Company’s website within one day 
of public release, and is emailed to all shareholders who lodge their email contact details with the Company.  
Information on lodging email addresses with the Company is available on the Company’s website.
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C. Review of operations

Financial Overview  

$m 2006 2005* Variance %

Sales 547.8 485.1 12.9

EBITDA 77.4 59.9 29.2

NPAT 33.9 23.5 44.3

Earnings per share** (cents) 32.0 22.9 39.7

Cash flow*** 62.9 13.9 352.5

Cash flow**** 44.4 

ROFE (EBITA) 25.7% 19.5% 

ROE 27.8% 21.6% 

Debt / EBITDA (ratio) 1.49 2.41

Interest cover (times) 5.2 3.9
 
*  2005 numbers are 12 months pro-forma as if the group had traded for the full twelve months, adjusted for AIFRS

** EPS is based on the number of shares at the end of the period     

*** Net operating and investing cash flows before borrowing costs & income tax

**** Net operating and investing cash flow

 
Financial Highlights    

•  Sales revenue of $547.8m, up 12.9% on 2005

•  EBITDA of $77.4m, up 29.2%

•  NPAT of $33.9m, up 44.3%

•  Net operating and investing cashflow of $44.4m

•  Gearing (gross debt/EBITDA) reduced to1.49 times

•  Final dividend of 11.5 cents per share fully franked, payable on 13 October 2006

Sales revenue for the twelve months to June 2006 of $547.8m was $62.7m or 12.9% higher than for 
the twelve months to June 2005.  Mineral Processing revenue increased by 78%, Mining showed strong 
revenue growth of 21%, Industrial sales were up by 8% while Rail’s revenue was down by 13%.  Trading for 
the Henderson acquisition (March 2005) and the new Mackay facility (January 2005) accounted for $32m 
of the revenue growth.

EBITDA of $77.4m was achieved, $17.5m or 29% higher than the corresponding period.  Growth in 
EBITDA was achieved via higher volumes and improved margins.  The EBITDA to sales margin of 14.3% was 
well up on the corresponding period of 12.3%.

Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary equity holders (NPAT) of $33.9m was $10.4m or 44.3% ahead 
of the corresponding period, resulting in earnings per share of 32 cents (based on number of shares at  
30 June 2006).

The Directors have declared a final, fully franked, dividend of 11.5 cents, compared to 9.2 cents in the 
corresponding period last year, payable on the 13th October 2006 with a record date of 29 September 
2006.  This brings the dividend for the full year to 21 cents per share, a payout ratio of 65%.

Strong cash generation driven by profit levels and a reduction in working capital allowed Bradken to increase 
capital expenditure in the year to $20.7m and also to reduce net debt by $28.7m to $114.3m.
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Business Summary

Mining - sales revenue of $212.1m, up $37.4m or 21% on 2005 (Pro-forma)

Ongoing strong expansion in the mining sector resulted in strong sales growth for crawler shoes and wear 
plate and block product.  Sales of ground engaging tools, while up 20% year on year, were flat in the second 
half as mine production levels fell.  Higher levels of maintenance and refurbishment revenue was also 
reported with revenue from the new Mackay facility included in the 2006 results.

Price increases and cost management initiatives resulted in further gross margin expansion.  

Mineral Processing - sales revenue of $105.9m, up $46.5m or 78% on 2005 (Pro-forma)

The Henderson foundry business was purchased in March 2005 and provided approximately $29m of 
additional sales in the 2006.  On a like for like business basis (excluding Henderson) sales of $67.4m were 
$17.6m or 35% higher than 2005.

As for the mining business the demand for mining consumables such as mill liners and crusher liners was 
strong during the period, and pricing initiatives provided margin improvement compared to 2005.

Rail - sales revenue of $166.1m, down $25.6m or 13% on 2005 (Pro-forma) 

Reduced sales of bogies, and lower demand from the general freight market, particularly Pacific National, 
offset higher wagon sales to Rio Tinto when comparing 2006 to 2005.  Due to the sales mix, cost 
reductions and pricing initiatives a substantial increase in gross margin offset the lost sales volume.

Demand for new rolling stock, particularly for iron ore, continues to be strong following the continued 
expansion of mining activity in Australia.

 Industrial - sales revenue of $63.7m, up $4.4m or 8% on 2005 (Pro-forma)

Sales were up 8% with solid growth in core products, expansion of gross margins also contributed strongly 
to the sales growth and improved earnings.    

Outlook

Bradken, through its leading market position as a supplier to the Australian resources and freight rail 
industries, is well placed to continue to benefit from the growth in these mining related markets, while 
the markets for our capital products, such as rail wagons, remain at expanded levels as mine capacities 
continue to increase.

The Company’s key activity is to continue to invest in additional capacity ahead of forecast demand in the 
coming years and to look for bolt on or larger acquisitions which grow the current product offering.

With the strength of underlying markets and current order book the forward outlook remains strong.

Dividends

Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:   2006 2005

       $’000 $’000

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2005 of 9.2 cents (2004: Nil cents) 
per fully paid share paid on 12 October 2005 (2004: not applicable)   9,457 -

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 9.5 cents (2005: 5.1 cents) 
per fully paid share paid 30 March 2006 (2005: 23 March 2005)   9,936 5,220

      19,393  5,220
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In addition to the above dividends, since the end of the financial year the directors have recommended the 
payment of a fully franked final dividend of $12,169,000 (11.5 cents per fully paid ordinary share) to be 
paid on 13 October 2006 out of retained profits at 30 June 2006. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year were the:

(a) acquisition of G W Brown and Co Pty Ltd on 28 March 2006

(b)  increase in contributed equity of $11,505,000 (from $71,832,000 to $83,337,000) as a result of:

       2006

        $’000

Issue of 6,448 fully paid ordinary shares @ $2.82 under the Bradken Employee Share Plan  
(New Zealand Gift Offer)  18 

Issue of 2,646,058 fully paid ordinary shares between $3.17 and $4.58 under the 
dividend reinvestment plan  9,666 

Issue of 59,993 fully paid ordinary shares between $4.05 and $4.75 on exercise of 
rights under the Performance Rights Plan  247 

Issue of 20,283 fully paid ordinary shares between $2.92 and $4.43 under the 
Non-Executive Directors Share Acquisition Plan  74 

Issue of 318,167 fully paid ordinary shares @ $4.71 as part of the consideration for 
the purchase of G W Brown and Co Pty Ltd  1,500

        11,505

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the 
Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Group, in future financial years.       

Likely developments and expected results of operations 

Further disclosure on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations 
have not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Group.

D. Remuneration report
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

(a)  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration    

(b) Details of remuneration 

(c) Service agreements       

(d) Share-based compensation

(e) Additional information (unaudited)

The information provided under headings (a) to (d) includes the remuneration disclosures that are required 
under the Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.  These disclosures have been 
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transferred from the financial report and have been audited.  The disclosures in section (e) are additional 
disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001 which have not 
been audited.       

(a)  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited)

The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive 
and appropriate for the results delivered.  The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of 
strategic objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms with market best practice for 
delivery of reward.  The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good 
reward governance practices:           

•  competitiveness and reasonableness   

•  acceptability to shareholders

•   performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation

•  transparency

•  capital management.

In consultation with external remuneration consultants, the Group has structured an executive remuneration 
framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward strategy of the Group.

Alignment to shareholders’ interests:

•   has economic profit as a core component of plan design

•   focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and 
delivering constant return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value

•  attracts and retains high calibre executives.

Alignment to program participants’ interests:

•  rewards capability and experience

•   reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth   

•  provides a clear structure for earning rewards 

•  provides recognition for contribution. 

Performance linked remuneration includes both short-term and long-term incentives and is designed to 
reward executive directors and senior executives for meeting or exceeding their financial and personal 
objectives.  The short-term incentive (STI) is an “at risk” bonus provided in the form of cash, while the  
long-term incentive (LTI) is provided as rights over ordinary shares of Bradken Limited under the rules of 
the Performance Rights Plan.

Non-executive directors

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the 
responsibilities of, the directors.  Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the 
Board.  The Board also uses the advice of independent remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive 
directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market.



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006   42

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(Continued)

(i) Directors’ fees

The current base remuneration was last reviewed with effect from 1 October 2005.  Total aggregate 
remuneration for all non-executive directors, last voted upon by shareholders in April 2004, is not to exceed 
$600,000 per annum and actual amounts payable to individual directors are determined after considering 
advice from external advisors and with reference to fees paid to other non-executive directors of comparable 
companies.

Directors’ base fees are presently $89,675 per annum.  The Chairman receives up to twice the base fee, 
currently $168,800 per annum.  Non-executive directors do not receive performance related remuneration.  
Directors’ fees cover all main board activities and membership of any board committee.

(ii)  Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Non-executive directors may elect to have a percentage of their annual fixed directors’ fees provided in 
shares under the Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (NED plan).  Participation in the plan is 
voluntary.

Executive pay

The executive pay and reward framework has three components:

•  base pay and benefits including superannuation

•  short-term performance incentives

•   long-term incentives through participation in the Performance Rights Plan.

The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration     

(i) Base pay and benefits

Structured as a total employment cost package which may be delivered as a combination of cash and 
prescribed non-financial benefits at the executives’ discretion and includes contributions to employee 
superannuation funds.

Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards.  
External remuneration consultants provide analysis and advice to ensure base pay is set to reflect the 
market for a comparable role.  Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s 
pay is competitive with the market.  An executive’s pay is also reviewed on promotion.

(ii) Short-term incentives

Each year the Board sets the job goals for the Managing Director.  The senior executives job goals are 
set and managed by the Managing Director.  The job goals are focused on the growth of the business and 
generally include measures relating to the Group, the relevant business unit, and the individual, and include 
financial, people, customer and strategy and risk measures.  The measures are chosen to directly align the 
individual’s reward to the goals of the Group and to its strategy and performance.

The financial performance objectives are “Net profit after tax” and “EBITDA” compared to previous year results.  
The non-financial objectives vary with position and responsibility and include measures such as achieving 
strategic outcomes, safety and environmental performance, customer satisfaction and staff development.



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006 43

At the end of the financial year an assessment is made of the actual performance of the Group, the relevant 
business unit and the individual targets set at the beginning of the financial year.  A percentage of bonus is 
awarded depending on performance.  No bonus is awarded where performance falls below the minimum 
growth target set for the financial year.

The Remuneration Committee recommends the bonus incentive to be paid to the Managing Director for 
approval by the Board.  For other senior executives the Managing Director recommends the bonus incentive 
to be paid, and seeks approval from the Remuneration Committee.      

(iii) Long-term incentives - Performance Rights Plan

The Group’s long-term incentive, the Performance Rights Plan, focuses on rewarding for long-term growth 
and the retention of key people.  Information on the Performance Rights Plan is set out on page 47. 

(b) Details of remuneration (audited)

Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures) of the company and the Group are set out in the following tables:

The key management personnel of Bradken Limited and the Group are the directors of Bradken Limited (see 
page 26), the Chief Financial Officer and the General Managers of the Bradken divisions who report directly 
to the Managing Director.  This includes the five Group executives who received the highest remuneration for 
the year ended 30 June 2006.  The executives are:

•  A J Allen - General Manager Industrial

•   B D Arnott - CFO and Company Secretary from 26 October 2005

•  S D Burraston - General Manager Rail

•   A J Poole - CFO and Company Secretary until 26 October 2005

•  E P Sheridan - General Manager Mining

•  B J Ward - General Manager Mineral Processing

The cash bonuses are dependent on the satisfaction of performance conditions as set out in the section 
headed Short-term incentives on page 42, and the Performance Rights (long term incentives) are not 
granted unless the conditions set out in Note 38 of the full financial report are satisfied.  All other elements 
of remuneration are not directly related to performance.       
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Cash salary 
and fees

 
Cash  

bonus

Non-
monetary 

benefits 
Super-

annuation
Retirement 

benefits 
Shares/ 

Rights

 
 

Total

Key management personnel of Bradken Limited and of the Group

2006 Short-term employee benefits Post-employment Share-based  
  benefits payment  
 

   

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors

N F H Greiner - Chairman 124,950 - - - - 41,650 166,600 

P J Arnall 88,506   -     -     -     -     -     88,506 

G R Laurie  56,840   -     -     5,116   -     26,550   88,506 

V J O’Rourke 66,380   -     -     -     -     22,126   88,506

Sub-total non-executive 
directors 336,676   -     -     5,116   -     90,326   432,118

Executive directors 

B W Hodges 345,445   350,000   15,777   185,079   -     115,038  1,011,339

Other key management 

A J Allen 139,256   100,000   34,968   43,603   -     29,075   346,902

B D Arnott* 137,720   105,000   -     66,895   -     24,144   333,759 
(from 26/10/2005 - 30/6/2006)

S D Burraston 142,816   80,000   61,806   26,274   -     30,671   341,567

A J Poole* 82,588   -  - 17,512   110,324   - 210,424 
(from 1/7/2005 - 11/11/2005)  

E P Sheridan 159,834 100,000 17,666 47,237 - 29,881 354,618

B J Ward 148,315   100,000   15,271   28,427 - 24,541 316,554

Totals 1,492,650   835,000   145,488   420,143   110,324   343,676  3,347,281

 
*  A J Poole resigned during the year as CFO and Company Secretary and left the Company on 11 November 

2005.  B D Arnott replaced Mr Poole and commenced employment with the Company on 26 October 2005. 
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Cash salary 
and fees

 
Cash  

bonus

Non-
monetary 

benefits 
Super-

annuation
Retirement 

benefits 
Shares/ 

Rights

 
 

Total

Key management personnel of Bradken Limited and of the Group

2005 Short-term employee benefits Post-employment Share-based  
  benefits payment  
 

   

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors 

N F H Greiner - Chairman 119,456   -     -     -     -     20,000   139,456 

P J Arnall 71,522   -     -     -     -     -     71,522 

G R Laurie  27,133   -     -     2,442   -     -     29,575 

V J O’Rourke 53,125   -     -     -     -     10,625   63,750 

Sub-total non-executive 
directors 271,236   -     -     2,442   -     30,625   304,303 

Executive directors

B W Hodges 366,574   110,000   25,162   70,854   -     47,972   620,562 

Other key management

A J Allen 150,214   45,309   34,968   26,683   -     11,515   268,689 

S D Burraston 139,107   23,119   52,437   26,223   -     11,791   252,677 

A C Horne 59,348   -     -     11,694   117,909   -     188,951 

A J Poole 210,817   36,697   -     40,319   -     12,494   300,327 

E P Sheridan 142,912   45,729   23,554   40,466   -     11,510   264,171 

B J Ward 92,620   38,532   12,561   14,836   -     9,065   167,614 
(from 1/11/2004 - 30/6/2005)    

Totals 1,432,828   299,386   148,682   233,517   117,909   134,972  2,367,294
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(c) Service agreements (audited)

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and the other key management 
personnel are formalised in service agreements.  Each of these agreements provide for the provision of 
performance-related cash bonuses, other benefits including, but not limited to, motor vehicles and participation, 
when eligible, in the Bradken Performance Rights Plan.  Other major provisions of the agreements relating to 
remuneration are set out below.

B W Hodges, Managing Director

     Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 2nd July 2004 with no prescribed duration.

      The contract can be terminated either by either party providing six months written notice, or immediately 
in the case of gross misconduct.  If Bradken Resources Pty Ltd terminates employment, other than for 
misconduct, then a severance payment will be made in accordance with Bradken’s redundancy policy in 
place immediately before termination.

B D Arnott, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

      Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 3rd July 2006 with no prescribed 
duration.

      The contract can be terminated by either party providing three months written notice, or immediately in 
the case of gross misconduct.  If a takeover of Bradken Limited occurs within the first 12 months of the 
contract and the CFO position is redundant, 12 months salary will be paid in lieu of service.

A J Allen, General Manager Industrial

     Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 7 July 2006 with no prescribed duration.

      The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of 
gross misconduct. 

E P Sheridan, General Manager Mining

      Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 7th January 2000 with no prescribed 
duration.

      The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of 
gross misconduct.

B J Ward, General Manager Mineral Processing

      Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 22nd September 2004 with no 
prescribed duration.

      The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of 
gross misconduct.

S D Burraston, General Manager Rail

      Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd dated 6th June 1995 with no prescribed 
duration.

      The contract can be terminated on three months notice by either party, or immediately in the case of 
gross misconduct.

A J Poole, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (from 1/7/2005 - 11/11/2005)

     Contract of employment with Bradken Resources Pty Ltd terminated by resignation on 11 November 2005.
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(d) Share-based compensation (audited)

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Non-executive directors may elect to have a proportion of their quarterly directors’ fees provided as shares 
under the NED Plan.  Participation in the plan is voluntary.

Non-executive directors are not able to sell or otherwise dispose of the shares until the earliest of 10 years 
after acquisition or when the non-executive director ceases to be a director of the Company (except in very 
limited circumstances).  During this period the shares are subject to a holding lock.

During the financial period shares were issued as new shares and the number of shares allocated was 
determined on the basis of the weighted average price of shares on the ASX on the five trading days up 
to and including the allocation date to satisfy the allocation.  In the future it is intended to purchase these 
shares on market.

The appropriate number of shares are issued on a semi-annual basis.  In general, the allocation date is the 
day following the end of the relevant fee period.  If for legal or other reasons shares are not issued, each 
non-executive director is provided with an equivalent cash amount.

Directors of Bradken Limited Dates of share issues Number of shares Weighted average price  
   issued during the year of shares issued

    2006 2005 2006 2005

N F H Greiner  24 August 2005  6,851   - $2.92  -   

N F H Greiner  23 February 2006  4,516   - $4.43  -   

G R Laurie   23 February 2006  2,878   - $4.43  -   

V J O’Rourke  24 August 2005  3,639   - $2.92  -   

V J O’Rourke  23 February 2006  2,399   - $4.43  - 

Performance Rights Plan

The Performance Rights Plan (PRP) is the Company’s long-term incentive (LTI) scheme for selected key 
executives.  The Company’s shareholders have approved the terms, the implementation and the operation 
of the PRP.  The Managing Director recommends the list of executives who are entitled to participate in this 
scheme and seeks approval of the list from the Board.  Under the PRP, eligible executives may be granted 
Performance Rights (each being a right to acquire a share, subject to the satisfaction of exercise conditions) 
on terms and conditions determined by the Board.  If the exercise conditions are satisfied, the Performance 
Rights may be exercised and the shares issued and delivered to the executive.  The Board may impose 
restrictions on the disposal of the shares and implement procedures to enforce the restrictions. 

The rules of the PRP provide that the Board may determine a price that is payable to exercise a Performance 
Right, or that no amount is payable by the executive upon exercise of the Right.

If any additional persons become entitled to participate in the PRP and their participation requires approval 
under Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules, they will not participate in the PRP until shareholder approval is 
received pursuant to Listing Rule 10.14.

Mr Brian Hodges, being the only Executive Director of the Company, is the only Director entitled to participate 
in the PRP.  If any other Director is to participate in the PRP, the Company will seek shareholder approval 
required by the Listing Rules.
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The performance conditions are based on the relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company 
measured against other companies in the ASX Small Cap Industrials index for the period since grant of the 
Performance Rights. TSR measures the total return on investment of a share taking into account capital 
appreciation, capital return and dividend income.

The TSR performance conditions in relation to the grants issued in 2005 and 2006 financial years are:

Target  Percentage of Rights available 
  in given year to vest

The Company’s TSR does not meet performance of the median Company in ASX Small Cap 0

The Company’s TSR equals or exceeds performance of the median Company in ASX Small Cap 50

The Company’s TSR ranked in third quartile of companies in ASX Small Cap Pro rata between 
 50% and 100% 
 (2% increase for each 
 higher ranking)

The Company’s TSR ranked in fourth quartile of companies in ASX Small Cap 100

In assessing whether the performance hurdles have been met, the Remuneration Committee receives 
independent data from an investment bank which provides both the Company’s TSR from previous financial years 
and that of the ASX Small Cap companies.  The Company’s performance against the hurdle is then determined 
with each Company in the ASX Small Cap companies and Bradken being ranked in order of TSR in results from 
previous financial years.  The Company’s percentile ranking is determined by aggregating the weighting within the 
ASX Small Cap companies (based on market capitalisation) of each company ranked below Bradken.  The method 
of assessment was chosen as it provides the Committee with an objective means of measuring the Company’s 
performance against its peer group. 

Dividends, changes in share price, and return of capital are included in the TSR calculation which is the only 
performance criteria assessed for the LTI scheme. 

The terms and conditions of each grant of Rights affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting 
periods are as follows:

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Fair value Date exercisable 
  price per Right

18 August 2004 30 June 2007 $0.00 $1.57 One third by 30/06/2005 
    One third by 30/06/2006 
    One third by 30/06/2007

30 June 2005 30 June 2007 $0.00 $1.41 One third by 30/06/2005  
    One third by 30/06/2006 
    One third by 30/06/2007

18 November 2005 30 June 2008 $0.00 $2.35 One third by 30/06/2006 
    One third by 30/06/2007 
    One third by 30/06/2008

Rights granted under the PRP carry no dividend or voting rights.
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Details of Rights over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to each director of Bradken 
Limited and each of the key management personnel are set out below.  When exercisable, each Right is 
convertible into one ordinary share of Bradken Limited.  Further information on the Rights is set out in note 38 
to the full financial statements.

Number of Rights granted and vested during the year    

Name   Number of Rights Number of Rights 
   granted during the year vested during the year

    2006 2005 2006 2005

Directors of Bradken Limited 

B W Hodges     85,616   91,667   65,206   24,444

Other key management personnel of Bradken Limited 
and of the Group 

A J Allen     22,417   24,499   17,272   6,533

B D Arnott     30,822   -     10,274   -   

S D Burraston     24,102   25,087   18,069   6,690

A J Poole     -     26,583   -     7,088

E P Sheridan     23,452   24,490   17,614   6,530

B J Ward     19,757   19,288   14,302   5,143

 
The assessed fair value at grant date of Rights granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the three 
financial periods in which the Rights may vest, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above.  
Fair values at grant date are determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account 
the exercise price, the term of the Right, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the 
non-tradeable nature of the Right, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the Right. 

The following factors and assumptions have been used in determining the fair value of Rights for the issues 
granted:        

      

Grant Date Expiry Exercise Price of Estimated Risk free Dividend 
 Date Price shares on volatility interest yield 
   grant date  rate 

18 August 2004  30/6/07 $0.00 $2.66 90% 5.44% 0.00%

30 June 2005  30/6/07 $0.00 $2.80 90% 5.17% 0.00%

18 November 2005  30/6/08 $0.00 $4.15 90% 5.35% 0.00%
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Shares provided on exercise of Performance Rights

Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of Performance Rights to the Managing 
Director of Bradken Limited and each of the key management personnel of the Group are set out below. 

Name Date of exercise Number of ordinary 
 granted during the year shares issued on 
  exercise of Rights 
  during the year

      2006 2005

Directors of Bradken Limited       

B W Hodges 1 December 2005 24,444   -   

Other key management personnel of  

Bradken Limited and of the Group    

A J Allen 15 November 2005 6,533   -   

A J Poole 15 November 2005 7,088   -   

E P Sheridan 1 December 2005 6,530   -   

B J Ward 15 November 2005 5,143   -   

No amounts were payable on the exercise of Rights during the period. 

Future changes to the Performance Rights Plan  

A decision has been made to institute a new performance rights plan with a three year vesting period and to 
transition participants to the new scheme.

(e) Additional information - unaudited  

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between 

remuneration and Company performance 

The overall level of executive reward takes into account the performance of the Group over a number of 
years, with greater emphasis given to the current and prior year.
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Details of cash remuneration: cash bonuses and Rights

For each cash bonus and grant of Rights included in the tables on pages 44-45 and pages 47-50, the 
percentage of the available bonus or Right that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the 
percentage that was forfeited because the person did not meet the performance criteria is set out below. 

The Rights vest over three years, provided the vesting conditions are met (see page 48 above).  No part of 
cash bonuses forfeited are payable in future years.

 Cash Bonus Rights

Name Paid/ Financial Vested in Vested in Forfeited Financial Minimum Maximum 
 Forfeited year prior  current (A) years in total value total value 
  granted years year  which Rights of grant yet of grant yet  
      may vest  to vest (B) to vest (C) 

 %  % % %  $ $

A J Allen 191 / Nil  2006  -     33   -  30/6/07 -  77,714 
      30/6/08 
  2005  26   41  - 30/6/07  -  42,463 

B D Arnott 175 / Nil  2006  -     33  - 30/6/07 -   106,850 
      30/6/08 

S D Burraston 142 / 12  2006  -     33  - 30/6/07  -  83,554  
      30/6/08   
  2005  26   41  - 30/6/07  -     43,482

B W Hodges 190 / Nil 2006  -     33  - 30/6/07  -     296,800 
      30/6/08   
  2005  26   41  - 30/6/07  -     158,891 

A J Poole -    2005  26  -  30/6/07  -   -

E P Sheridan 183 / Nil 2006  -     33  - 30/6/07  -     81,302 
      30/6/08   
  2005  26   41  - 30/6/07  -     42,448 

B J Ward 217 / Nil  2006  -     33  - 30/6/07  -     68,489 
      30/6/08   
  2005  26   41  - 30/6/07  -     33,431

A =  The % forfeited in the year is nil as the Rights that failed to vest in this period may vest in future periods 
if performance criteria are met.   

B =  The minimum value of Rights yet to vest is nil as the performance criteria may not be met and consequently 
the Right may not vest.

C =  The maximum value of rights yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares 
of Bradken Limited on the Australian Stock Exchange at the date the right is exercised. The maximum 
values presented above are based on the closing share price at 30 June 2006 of $5.20.  
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Share based compensation: Rights  

Further details relating to rights are set out below.       

     A B C D E 
Name    Remuneration Value at Value at Value at Total of 
    consisting of grant exercise lapse columns 
     Rights date date date B - D 

     $ $ $ $

A J Allen   8.4%  52,680   8,958   -     61,638 

B D Arnott   7.2%  72,432   -     -     72,432 

S D Burraston   9.0%  56,640   -     -     56,640 

B W Hodges   11.4%  201,198   38,377   -     239,575 

A J Poole    -     -     9,994   27,488   37,482 

E P Sheridan   8.4%  55,112   9,207   -     64,319 

B J Ward    7.8%  46,429   7,252   -     53,681

A =  The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of Rights, based on the value at grant date set 
out in column B.

B=  The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment of Rights granted 
during the year as part of remuneration.

C =  The value at exercise date of Rights that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised 
during the year.

D =  The value at lapse date of Rights that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year.

Shares under Performance Rights

Unissued shares of Bradken Limited under Performance Right at the date of this report are as follows:

Date Rights granted Expiry date Exercise price Number of shares 
   under right

18 August 2004 30 June 2007 Nil 67,223

30 June 2005 30 June 2007 Nil 119,705

18 November 2005 30 June 2008 Nil 444,068

 All Rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date, their exercise, their failure to meet exercise conditions 
or termination of the employee’s employment.  In addition, the ability to exercise the Rights is conditional 
on the Group achieving certain performance hurdles related to relative total shareholder return to the ASX 
Small Cap Industrial index. 

Further details are included in the Remuneration Report above.
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Shares issued on exercise of Rights

The following ordinary shares of Bradken Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2006 on 
exercise of Rights granted under the Performance Rights Plan.  No further shares have been issued since 
that date.

Date Rights granted Issue price  Number of shares 

 of share issued

18 August 2004 $0.00 24,444

30 June 2005 $0.00 35,549

18 November 2005 $0.00 0

E.  Other information      

Environmental regulation      

The Group’s operations are subject to significant environmental regulation under both Commonwealth and 
State legislation governing, amongst other things, noise, air emissions, the use, handling, and disposal 
of hazardous substances and waste.  The Group has devoted and will continue to devote resources to 
environmental compliance and management in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates.

A Group wide environmental management system is in place which complies with the international standard 
ISO14001.  It is Group policy to be environmentally proactive and to adopt practices that minimise adverse 
environmental impacts and to communicate and provide appropriate feedback on the Group’s environmental 
performance.  In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy, procedures and goals have been 
established aimed at ensuring:       

•   all manufacturing and engineering sites have developed, implemented, and maintain environmental 
management systems meeting the requirements of ISO14001    

•   the environmental management systems are integrated with the existing business systems

•   zero notifiable incidents and zero justified neighbourhood complaints

•   continuing reduction of industrial waste disposal costs by continual improvement of working practices, 
such as cleaner production and improved recycling. 

Based upon the results of inquiries made, the Board is not aware of any significant breaches during the 
period covered by this report nor does it consider the Group is subject to any presently known material 
environmental liabilities.

Insurance of officers 

During the year, the Group paid a premium to insure the directors and secretaries of the Company and its 
Australian-based controlled entities, the general managers of each of the businesses, all executive officers 
of the Group and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by such a director, secretary or 
executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify 
any officer of the Group or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by any such officer.
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Proceedings on behalf of the Company

No person has applied to the court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, 
for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of these proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Non-audit services

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below.

The Board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the Audit 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•   all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor

•   none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out 
in Professional Statement F1, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a 
management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly 
sharing economic risks and rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent 
entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 

Assurance services       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
       $ $

1. Audit services  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:  

Audit and review of financial reports  
and other audit work under Corporations Act 2001    188,000   95,000 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG)     -  143,000 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloittes NZ)    17,563   23,661 

Total remuneration for audit services     205,563 261,661

2. Other assurance services 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm: 

IFRS accounting services      30,000  -   

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) - Controls assurance services  -     13,500 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG) - Due diligence services   -     221,485 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloitte) - Due diligence services  -     129,800 

Total remuneration for other assurance services    30,000  364,785

Total remuneration for assurance services     235,563  626,446
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Taxation services       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
       $ $

 PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

Tax compliance services, including review of Company income tax returns  81,765   -   

International tax consulting and advice     61,761   -   

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (KPMG)      -     37,595

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm (Deloittes NZ)    5,616  8,872 

Total remuneration for taxation services     149,142 46,467

 
Auditors’ independence declaration

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on page 56. 

Rounding of amounts 

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the directors’ report.  Amounts in the 
directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, 
or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.   

Auditor
PricewatehouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.     
    

  
   
BW Hodges Sydney 
Managing Director 24 August 2006
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PricewaterhouseCoopers 
ABN 52 780 433 757

PricewaterhouseCoopers Centre

26 Honeysuckle Drive
PO Box 798
NEWCASTLE  NSW  2300
DX 77 Newcastle
Australia
www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 4925 1100
 Facsimile +61 2 4925 1199

Auditors Independence Declaration      

As lead auditor for the audit of Bradken Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006, I declare that, to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a)   no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and 

(b)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Bradken Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.   
 

        
  

D A Turner  Sydney    
Partner 12 September 2006   

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Liability is limited by a scheme 
approved under professional 
standards legislation

AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
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       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
      Notes $’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations    5 549,110  486,376 

Cost of sales      (441,905)  (416,688)

Gross profit      107,205  69,688

Other income       -    4,062 

Selling and technical expenses      (24,136)  (20,688)

Administration expenses      (22,751)  (21,144)

Finance costs      (11,939)  (12,509)

Profit before income tax      48,379   19,409 

Income tax (expense) / benefit      (14,482)  2,707 

Profit for the year      33,897   22,116 

Profit attributable to members of Bradken Limited    33,897   22,116 

         
        Cents   Cents 

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the company:

 Basic earnings per ordinary share: (cents per share)    32.5 30.4

Diluted earnings per ordinary share: (cents per share)    32.3 30.4

*  2005 earnings per share value is influenced by the IPO occuring on 18 August 2004 which affects the 
average number of shares on issue during the 12 months ended 30 June 2005. 

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
        
 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006   58

       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
       $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents      20,166   1,157 
Trade and other receivables      58,493  68,316 
Inventories      75,201   75,191 
Derivative financial instruments      204  -   

Total current assets      154,064   144,664 

Non-current assets

Receivables      4,235  3,051 
Other financial assets      -     -   
Property, plant and equipment      151,546  138,686 
Deferred tax assets      18,924   21,310 
Intangible Assets      39,139  40,039 
Total non-current assets      213,844  203,086 

Total assets      367,908  347,750

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables      53,509   53,600 
Borrowings      4,242   9,531 
Current tax liabilities      10,374   6,539 
Provisions      28,502  27,822 
Derivative financial instruments      192   -   
Other      -     36 

Total Current Liabilities      96,819   97,528

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings      130,233   134,657 
Deferred tax liabilities      2,495   2,222 
Provisions      3,159  4,504 

Total non-current liabilities      135,887   141,383 

Total liabilities      232,706  238,911 

Net assets      135,202  108,839

Equity

Contributed equity      83,337  71,832 
Reserves      45  (300)
Retained profits      51,820  37,307 

Total equity      135,202  108,839 

            
 The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
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       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
      Notes $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year    108,839   20,177 

        
Adjustment on adoption of AASB132 and AASB139, net of tax, to: 

     Reserves      (610)  -   

Restated total equity at the beginning of the financial year    108,229  20,177 

        
Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax    761  -   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations    (30)  (196)

Net income recognised directly in equity     731  (196)

Profit for the year      33,897  22,116 

Total recognised income and expense for the year    34,628  21,920 

        
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:  

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs     11,167   70,999 

Dividends provided for or paid     6 (19,393) (5,220)

Non Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan     74   -   

Performance Rights Plan      479  130 

Employee Share Scheme      18 833 

      (7,655) 66,742 

Total equity at the end of the financial year     135,202  108,839

 
Total recognised income and expense for the year is attributable to:  
Members of Bradken Limited      34,628  21,920

       34,628  21,920 

  
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
        
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY
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       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
       $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)   607,330  538,446 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (inclusive of goods and services tax)   (521,080)  (494,855)

      86,250  43,591

Interest received      440  138 

Interest paid      (10,780)  (11,069)

Income taxes paid      (8,225)  (6,802)

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities    67,685  25,858 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payment for property, plant and equipment     (20,679) (12,172)

Payment for purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired    (2,935)  -   

Payment for businesses      - (28,188)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    352  1,564 

Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities    (23,262)  (38,796)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of shares      -    73,319 

Transaction costs from issue of shares     -     (14,545)

Payment of finance lease liabilities      (4,129) (2,644)

Repayment of borrowings      (15,238)  (155,300)

Proceeds from borrowings      3,697  173,863 

Return of capital to equity holders      -    (54,265)

Dividends paid to company’s shareholders     (9,725)  (4,154)

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities    (25,395)  16,274 

 
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    19,028  3,336 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year    1,157 (2,180)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (19) 1 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year    20,166 1,157 

       

 
The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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This concise financial report relates to the consolidated entity consisting of Bradken Limited and the entities 
it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2006.  The accounting policies adopted have 
been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated in note 1 below.

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the ‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in the financial report.  Amounts in 
the concise financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest 
thousand dollars.  

1  Adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards    

The full financial report on which this concise financial report is based is the first annual Bradken Limited 
financial report to be prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRSs).  AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing the full financial report.

Financial statements of Bradken Limited until 30 June 2005 had been prepared in accordance with previous 
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP).  AGAAP differs in certain respects from 
AIFRS.  When preparing Bradken Limited 2006 financial statements, management has amended certain 
accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied in the AGAAP financial statements to comply with 
AIFRS.  With the exception of financial instruments, the comparative figures in respect of 2005 were 
restated to reflect these adjustments.  The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to only 
apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005 (see note 3 page 63).

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRSs on the Group’s 
equity and its net income are given in note 39 of the full financial report.  A summary of this information is 
provided below.

(1)  Impact on total equity reported under previous AGAAP

A 1 July 2004 reconciliation of equity is not included.  The directors consider this reconciliation would be 
misleading as the company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange in August 2004.  The July 2004 balance 
sheet does not reflect the listed entity nor is it comparable to the financial statements reported for the June 
2005 year and forward.  A reconciliation of equity for 30 June 2005 follows.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
30 June 2006
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       30 June 2005 
       $’000

Total equity under previous AGAAP        241,066 

Adjustments made to contributed equity

     Reverse acquisition adjustment       (165,621)

     Share-based payments       833

      Tax effect of share issue expense in equity      4045

Adjustments made to reserves

     Share-based payments       130 

Adjustments to retained earnings (net of related tax impact) 

     Reverse acquisition adjustment       21,917

     Leased assets       (176)

     Share-based payments       (963)

     Income tax expense adjustment       6,881

      Goodwill amortisation adjustment      727 

Total equity under AIFRS       108,839 

        
      

(2)  Impact on profit for the year ended 30 June 2005

        $’000

 Profit for the year ended 30 June 2005 as reported under AGAAP    14,141 

Share-based payments       (963)

Reversal of goodwill amortisation       5,205 

Leased assets       (14)

Reverse acquisition adjustment       4,455 

Tax expense adjustment       (708)

Profit for the year ended 30 June 2005 - restated under AIFRS    22,116

(3)  Impact on cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2005   
 
The adoption of AIFRSs has not resulted in any material adjustments to the cash flow statement. 
 

2  Presentation currency

The presentation currency used in this financial report is Australian dollars. 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
30 June 2006
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3  Change in accounting policy
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to only apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and Disclosure and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement from 1 
July 2005.  At the date of transition to these standards at 1 July 2005, the following adjustments were 
recognised:   

   30 June 2005 Adjustment 1 July 2005 
   $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets  21,310 262   21,572 

Derivative financial instruments   -   (908) (908)

Other current liabilities  (36) 36 -   

Deferred tax liabilities  (2,222) (11) (2,233)

Adjustment to net assets     (621)  

 
Retained profits  (37,307) 621 (36,686)

Adjustment to total equity     621   

 
Derivative financial instruments   

Under AGAAP, gains or costs arising from entering into foreign currency cash flow hedges, together with 
subsequent exchange gains or losses resulting from remeasuring of those contracts by reference to 
movements in spot exchange rates, were deferred in the balance sheet and included in the measurement 
of the purchase or sale.  For interest rate swap agreements, the net amount receivable or payable was 
progressively recognised as adjustment to finance cost over the period to settlement. 

Under AASB 139, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and changes in the fair value 
of interest rate swap contracts are recognised in a hedging reserve and changes in the fair value of foreign 
currency cashflow hedges are recognised in the Income Statement as they do not meet the definition of a 
qualifying hedge.     

In relation to foreign currency cash flow hedges, $36,000 was reclassified from other current liabilities to 
current derivative financial instrument liabilities and recognised at a fair value of $36,000.  Retained profits 
were reduced by $11,000 and deferred tax liabilities were increased by $11,000.   

In relation to interest rate swaps $872,000 was recognised as a current derivative financial instrument 
liability.  Retained profits were reduced by $610,000 and deferred tax assets increased by $262,000.
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4  Segment information

Primary reporting format - business segments     

2006  Industrial Mining Mineral Rail Inter- Con- 
    Processing  segment solidated 
      eliminations 
      /unallocated

   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers   63,696  212,111  105,896  166,118 -  547,821 

Intersegment sales   -    -    1,420  -    (1,420)  -   

Total sales revenue  63,696  212,111  107,316  166,118  (1,420)  547,821 

Other revenue/income       1,289 

Total segment revenue/income       549,110 

        
Segment result  19,786  68,910  30,014  36,812  -    155,522 

Unallocated revenue less unallocated 
expenses       (107,143)

Profit before income tax       48,379 

Income tax expense       (14,482)

Net profit for the year       33,897 

        
Segment assets  57,031  127,416   66,980  73,035   -     324,462 

Unallocated assets       43,446

Total assets       367,908 

      

Segment liabilities  18,280  22,528  14,748  30,112  -    85,668 

Unallocated liabilities       147,038 

Total liabilities       232,706 
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2005  Industrial Mining Mineral Rail Inter- Con- 
    Processing  segment solidated 
      eliminations 
      /unallocated

   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers  59,269  174,695  59,403  191,723  -     485,090 

Intersegment sales   -     -    154   -    (154)  -   

Total sales revenue  59,269  174,695  59,557  191,723  (154)  485,090 

Other revenue/income       5,348 

Total segment revenue/income       490,438 

        
Segment result  15,917  53,420  13,789  36,681  -     119,807 

Unallocated revenue less unallocated 
expenses       (100,398)

Profit before income tax       19,409 

Income tax expense       2,707 

Net profit for the year       22,116 

 
Segment assets  55,031  129,788  59,886  75,181  -    319,886 

Unallocated assets       27,864 

Total assets       347,750 

      

Segment liabilities  18,944  29,559  15,211  32,292  -  96,006 

Unallocated liabilities       142,905 

Total liabilities       238,911
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5  Sales revenue

       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
       $’000 $’000

Sales revenue from continuing operations     547,821  485,090 

6  Dividends

       Consolidated

       2006 2005 
       $’000 $’000

(a)  Ordinary shares

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2005 of 9.2 cents (2004: NIL) 
per fully paid share paid on 12 October 2005 (2004: NIL)    

    Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30%     9,457  -   

        
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 9.5 cents (2005: 5.1 cents) 
per fully paid share paid 30 March 2006 (2005: 23 March 2005)     
        
    Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30% (2005: fully franked @ 30%)   9,936 5,220 

Total dividends provided for or paid      19,393 5,220

Dividends paid in cash or satisfied by the issue of shares under the dividend 
reinvestment plan during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 
30 June 2005 were as follows:       

    Paid in cash      9,725 4,154 

    Satisfied by issue of shares      9,668  1,066

      19,393 5,220 

 
(b)  Dividends not recognised at year end       

In addition to the above dividends, since year end the directors have recommended 
the payment of a final dividend of 11.5 cents per fully paid ordinary share,  
(2005: 9.2 cents) fully franked based on tax paid at 30%.  The aggregate amount 
of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on 13 October 2006 out of retained  
profits at 30 June 2006, but not recognised as a liability at year end, is:

       12,169 9,457 

        

7  Events occurring after balance sheet date
No material events have occurred that affect the operations of the Group from the end of the financial 
period ended 30 June 2006 to the date of issue of this report.



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006 67

The directors declare that in their opinion, the concise financial report of the consolidated entity for the 
year ended 30 June 2006 as set out on pages 57 to 66 complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039: 

Concise Financial Reports.

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2006.   
The financial statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived 
from the full financial report. 

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, 
financial position and financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the full financial report, which 
is available on request. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors:     
   

         

         
 
NFH Greiner 

Chairman         

  
   
 
BW Hodges Sydney 
Managing Director 12 September 2006  
   
   

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
30 June 2006
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PricewaterhouseCoopers 
ABN 52 780 433 757

PricewaterhouseCoopers Centre

26 Honeysuckle Drive
PO Box 798
NEWCASTLE  NSW  2300
DX 77 Newcastle
Australia
www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 4925 1100
Facsimile +61 2 4925 1199

Independent audit report to the members of Bradken Limited  
 
Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the concise financial report of Bradken Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006 complies with 
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report. 
 
Scope

The concise financial report and directors’ responsibility

The concise financial report comprises the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement, notes to the financial statements, 
and the directors’ declaration for Bradken Limited (the company), for the year ended 30 June 2006.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the concise financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.  
 
Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the concise financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the 
members of the company.  Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order 
to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the concise financial report is free of material misstatement  The 
nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent 
limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence.  Therefore, an audit 
cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.  For further explanation of an audit, visit our 
website http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We also performed an independent audit of the full financial report of the company for the financial year ended 30 
June 2006.  Our audit report on the full financial report was signed on 24 August 2006, and was not subject to any 
qualification.

In conducting our audit of the concise financial report, we performed procedures to assess whether in all material 
respects the concise financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 
1039 Concise Financial Reports. 
 
Liability is limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
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We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 

•  testing that the information included in the concise financial report is consistent with the information in the full 
financial report, and

•  examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the 
concise financial report which were not directly derived from the full financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any 
material inconsistencies with the concise financial report. 

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers   
   
   
  

   
   
   
  

   
   
D A Turner Sydney 
Partner 12 September 2006

Liability is limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 21 August 2006.

A.  Distribution of equity security holders

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:

       Class of equity security

      Ordinary   Rights 
      shares

1 – 1,000     2,167  0
1,001 – 5,000     1,696  0
5,001 – 10,000     546  1
10,000 – 100,000     415  20
100,000 and over     53  1

     4,877  22

 The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 25.

B.  Equity security holders          

 Twenty largest quoted equity security holders      

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:  
       Ordinary shares

      Number   Percentage 
      held  of issued 
        shares

National Nominees Limited     14,720,856   14.0%
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited    14,688,502   13.9%
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited    11,071,156   10.5%
ANZ Nominees Limited     6,596,777   6.3%
Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited   5,530,166   5.2%
Queensland Investment Corporation     3,588,113   3.4%
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited     3,550,644   3.4%
Cogent Nominees Pty Ltd     3,444,472   3.3%
Tasman Asset Management Ltd     3,442,460   3.3%
RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited  3,044,654  2.9%
Mr Brian Hodges     2,648,167   2.5%
Bond Street Custodians Limited     1,978,161   1.9%
INVIA Custodians Pty Limited     1,510,973   1.4%
UCA Growth Fund Limited     1,250,000   1.2%
AMP Life Limited     1,018,698   1.0%
Promina Equities Limited     1,008,209   1.0%
The Australian National University Investment Section   900,000   0.9%
Famarn Pty Ltd     690,135   0.7%
Mr Andrew Poole     656,153   0.6%
Mirrabooka Investments Limited     600,000   0.6%

     81,908,296   77.6%
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C.  Substantial shareholders        

Substantial holders in the company are set out below: 

Shareholder     Number of ordinary shares

Fidelity Group      12,191,149
Promina Group Ltd      8,256,212
AMVESCAP      6,367,592
Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited    5,530,166
 

D.  Voting rights       

(a)  Ordinary shares

 On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to 
one vote, and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

(b)  Rights

No voting rights



BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2006   72

Offices and Officers

Company Secretary

Mr Bruce D Arnott, B.Com, CPA

Principal Registered Office

2 Maud Street

Mayfield West  NSW  2304

Telephone: +61 2 4941 2600

Facsimile: +61 2 4967 5003

Email: bradken@bradken.com.au

Locations of Share Registry

Link Market Services Limited

Level 12, 680 George Street

Sydney  NSW  2000

Locked Bag A14

Sydney South  NSW  1232

Telephone: +61 2 8280 7890

Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0396

Stock Exchange

The Company is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.  The Home Exchange is Sydney.

Other Information

Bradken Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company by shares.

  

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION


